Progress in Aerospace Sciences I (IIII) III-III



Contents lists available at ScienceDirect

Progress in Aerospace Sciences



journal homepage: www.elsevier.com/locate/paerosci

50 years of transonic aircraft design

Antony Jameson, Kui Ou*

Aeronautics and Astronautics Department, Stanford University, United States

ABSTRACT

This article traces the evolution of long range jet transport aircraft over the 50 years since Kuechemann founded the journal Progress in Aerospace Sciences. The article is particularly focused on transonic aerodynamics. During Kuechemann's life time a good qualitative understanding had been achieved of transonic flow and swept wing design, but transonic flow remained intractable to quantitative prediction. During the last 50 years this situation has been completely transformed by the introduction of sophisticated numerical algorithms and an astonishing increase in the available computational power, with the consequence that aerodynamic design is now carried out largely by computer simulation. Moreover developments in aerodynamic shape optimization based on control theory enable a competitive swept wing to be designed in just two simulations, as illustrated in the article. While the external appearance of long range jet aircraft has not changed much, advances in information technology have actually transformed the entire design and manufacturing process through parallel advances in computer aided design (CAD), computational structural mechanics (CSM) and multi-disciplinary optimization (MDO). They have also transformed aircraft operations through the adoption of digital fly-by-wire and advanced navigational techniques.

© 2011 Elsevier Ltd. All rights reserved.

Contents

1.	Introduction	1
2.	Emergence of CFD	2
	2.1. Early history.	2
	2.2. The (nonlinear) potential revolution	2
	2.3. Solution of Euler equations	3
	2.4. Solution of the Navier–Stokes equations	4
	2.5. Optimum shape design	4
3.	Transonic airfoil design	5
4.	Swept wing design.	5
5.	Other aspects of aircraft design	7
	5.1. Stability and control.	7
	5.2. Computer aided design and manufacturing	9
6.	Conclusion	. 10
	Acknowledgements	. 10
	References	. 10

1. Introduction

It is an honor to contribute to the 50th Anniversary Volume of Progress in Aerospace Sciences commemorating the life and work of Dietrich Kuechemann, the founder and first editor of the series. Kuechemann was one of the great aerodynamicists of his time,

* Corresponding author.

working first at the AVA Gottingen and subsequently, after the conclusion of the Second World War, at the RAE Farnborough. His research contributed greatly to the understanding of transonic and supersonic aerodynamics, in particular to the design of swept and slender wings. At the end of his life aerodynamics was just on the cusp of a revolution in which computational fluid dynamics (CFD) moved to the forefront of the aerodynamic design process. It is clear from Kuechemann's book [1], posthumously published in 1978, that Kuechemann was aware of the emergence of CFD as a potentially useful tool. In his section on "swept wings in

E-mail address: ouk@stanford.edu (K. Ou).

^{0376-0421/} $\$ - see front matter @ 2011 Elsevier Ltd. All rights reserved. doi:10.1016/j.paerosci.2011.01.001

transonic flow", p. 184–212, he makes several references to numerical methods. On p. 194 he stated: "In recent years, a number of numerical computer methods have been developed (see e.g. Lomax [2]). These are primarily of numerical interest and are not discussed here in detail". This perhaps reflects a view that was prevalent among aeronautical scientists of his generation that numerical methods lack mathematical content, and a resort to them represents a failure to find solutions through deep and elegant physical and mathematical insights. In fact it has become clear during the last 50 years that there is tremendous scope for mathematical depth in the formulation of modern numerical methods, as is evidenced by the mathematical foundations of the finite element method in Sobolev space, the key role of orthogonal polynomials in spectral and other high order methods, or the concept of multigrid convergence acceleration.

By the end of Kuechemann's career, as is clearly evidenced by his book, a very thorough qualitative understanding had been achieved both of the behaviors of transonic flow and of design aspects of swept wings. Kuechemann himself was a major contributor to this body of knowledge. Section 4.8 of the book contains numerous diagrams illustrating flow patterns, operational boundaries of CL and Mach number, and the onset of drag rise and buffeting. What was lacking was the capability to make precise quantitative predictions. He remarks on p. 196: "In spite of this present emphasis on numerical methods, wing design remains more of an art than an exact science, as it always has been (see also Chapter 5 of his book). In the computer methods the physics of the flow are well hidden, and design hints do not normally emerge". It has actually transpired that the capability of modern CFD methods to make very accurate predictions, together with the emergence of effective aerodynamic shape optimization methods, has converted wing design (at least of transport aircraft) to a science. Moreover information technology has completely transformed the entire design and manufacturing processes through computer aided design (CAD), which has replaced the traditional drawing board and blue prints, and computer aided manufacturing (CAM), with techniques such as numerically controlled machining (NCM). The astonishing rapidity of advances in computer hardware and software could hardly have been foreseen during Kuechemann's lifetime.

The next section gives a very brief review of the emergence and refinement of CFD since 1970. Section 3 discusses aspects of supercritical airfoil design, including the design of shock free airfoils. Section 4 discusses the application of CFD to swept wing design. Section 5 gives an overview of the way in which all aspects of aircraft design, manufacturing and operation have been completely transformed by rapid advances in computers and information technology.

2. Emergence of CFD

2.1. Early history

The history of numerical techniques for fluid mechanics has followed the trend of developing methods for solving increasingly accurate representations of the physics, for a given level of geometrical complexity, in the hierarchy of mathematical models. These models range from the small-disturbance potential equation to direct numerical simulation (DNS) of turbulent flows. The early history of important ideas and achievements, dating from before Symposium Transsonicum II includes the development of Riemann-based schemes for gas dynamics by Godunov [3]. This work was published by Godunov in the Soviet Union as early as 1959, but was not appreciated in the West for more than a decade. In fact it appears that Kuechemann was completely unaware of Godunov's work. The multigrid method suffered a similar fate. After being developed for the Laplace equation in 1964 by Fedorenko [4], it lay undiscovered in the West until the early 1970s. Research at the Courant Institute on hyperbolic systems of conservation laws led to the development, in 1960, of the first second-order accurate dissipative methods for these problems by Lax and Wendroff [5]. This class of methods forms the basis of the efficient explicit method developed in 1969 for the Navier–Stokes equations by MacCormack [6]. At the Douglas Aircraft Company, the aerodynamic research group, led by A.M.O. Smith, developed the first panel method for three-dimensional, linear, potential flows [7], and the first implementation of Keller's box method for turbulent boundary layer flows [8].

2.2. The (nonlinear) potential revolution

A major breakthrough was accomplished by Murman and Cole [9] with their development of type-dependent differencing in 1970. They obtained stable solutions by simply switching from central differencing in the subsonic zone to upwind differencing in the supersonic zone, and using a line-implicit relaxation scheme. Their discovery provided major impetus for the further development of CFD by demonstrating that solutions for steady transonic flows could be computed economically. Fig. 1, taken from their landmark paper, illustrates the scaled pressure distribution on the surface of a symmetric airfoil. The Murman-Cole scheme was extended to the full, nonlinear potential equation with the rotated difference scheme of Jameson [10]. One of the most successful, and widely used, implementations of that scheme was the FLO22 code for calculating the transonic potential flow past three-dimensional, swept wings [11]. In spite of the non-conservative formulation of Jameson's scheme used in FLO22, many aircraft companies have calibrated its behavior and the code still is used today in several companies for preliminary design. It is useful in this role, as it is capable of computing three-dimensional flow fields on grids containing about 150,000 cells in less than 15 s on a laptop computer (having a 1 GHz processor speed). Murman and Cole's original scheme also was not fully conservative, with the result that it did not enforce correct jump conditions across shocks. In fact, in onedimensional flow the scheme allows a range of solutions. Murman soon devised a fully conservative version of the scheme [12]. In a one-dimensional model, this could still allow



Fig. 1. Scaled pressure coefficient on surface of a thin, circular-arc airfoil in transonic flow, compared with experimental data; from Murman and Cole [9].

(multiple equilibrium points with combinations of compression and) entropy-violating expansion shocks. However, with a judicious choice of the iterative method, these prove to be unstable equilibrium points that would not be obtained in practice. Stable, fully conservative schemes for the full potential equation were subsequently devised through the interpretation of upwinding as a controlled form of numerical diffusion; see, e.g., Jameson [13] and Holst [14]. Jameson's fully conservative scheme for the full potential equation was also presented in Gottingen at the second Symposium Transsonicum [15]. Although the type-dependent schemes resulted in a major reduction in computer time required for steady solutions of transonic flow problems, considerable further efficiency was possible through use of the multigrid algorithm. After Fedorenko's development of the method in the 1960s, it was discovered, further developed, and popularized by Brandt in the 1970s [16]. Multigrid was applied to the transonic small-disturbance equation by South and Brandt [17], and to the full potential equation by Jameson [18]. Just as solution of the full potential equation for transonic flows with shock waves was becoming relatively efficient, it was discovered by Steinhoff and Jameson [19] that solutions to the steady potential problem for certain flows containing zones of supersonic flow terminated by shock waves exhibited non-uniqueness. They actually obtained a triple solution for a symmetric Joukowsky airfoil at zero angle of attack, corresponding to a reversal of the lift slope C_{L_x} in a critical Mach number range around $M_{\infty} = 0.80$, and a pitchfork bifurcation. This provided further impetus for the development of techniques to solve the Euler and Navier-Stokes equations for these flows. By this time, full potential solutions for three-dimensional wing geometries had become fairly routine, and the solution for a complete Falcon 50 business jet configuration, including horizontal and vertical tails and engine nacelles, was presented by Bristeau et al. [20] using a finite-element formulation.

2.3. Solution of Euler equations

The solution of the Euler equations became a central focus of CFD research in the 1980s. Most of the early solvers tended to exhibit pre- or post-shock oscillations. Also, in a workshop held in Stockholm in 1979 [21] it was apparent that none of the existing schemes converged to a steady state. The Jameson–Schmidt–Turkel (JST) scheme [22], which used Runge–Kutta time stepping and a blend of second- and fourth- differences (both to control oscillations and to provide background dissipation), consistently

demonstrated convergence to a steady state, with the consequence that it became one of the most widely used methods. The issues of oscillation control and positivity had already been addressed by Godunov in his pioneering work in the 1950s (translated into English in 1959). He had introduced the concept of representing the flow as piecewise constant in each computational cell, and solving a Riemann problem at each interface, thus obtaining a first-order accurate solution that avoids non-physical features such as expansion shocks. When this work was eventually recognized in the West, it became very influential. It was also widely recognized that numerical schemes might benefit from distinguishing the various wave speeds, and this motivated the development of characteristics-based schemes. The earliest higher-order characteristics-based methods used flux-vector splitting [23], but suffered from oscillations near discontinuities similar to those of central-difference schemes in the absence of numerical dissipation. The Monotone Upwind Scheme for Conservation Laws (MUSCL) of Van Leer [24] extended the monotonicity-preserving behavior of Godunov's scheme to higher order through the use of limiters. A general framework for oscillation control in the solution of non-linear problems is provided by Harten's demonstration that total variation diminishing (TVD) schemes are monotonicity-preserving [25]. Roe's introduction of the concept of locally linearizing the equations through a mean value Jacobian [26] had a major impact. It provided valuable insight into the nature of the wave motions and also enabled the efficient implementation of Godunov-type schemes using approximate Riemann solutions. Roe's flux-difference splitting scheme has the additional benefit that it yields a single-point numerical shock structure for stationary normal shocks. Roe's and other approximate Riemann solutions, such as that due to Osher, have been incorporated in a variety of schemes of Godunov type. including the essentially non-oscillatory (ENO) schemes of Harten et al. [27]. The use of limiters dates back to the flux-corrected transport (FCT) scheme of Boris and Book [28]. They demonstrated essentially perfect propagation of discontinuities at the first AIAA CFD Conference in Palm Springs [29]. The switch in the JST scheme [22] can actually be reformulated so that the scheme is local extremum diminishing (LED), and may be interpreted as an example of a symmetric limited positive scheme [30,31]. Euler solutions for a complete aircraft configuration, computed on an unstructured, tetrahedral mesh, were presented by Jameson et al. [32]. This method was essentially equivalent to a Galerkin method with linear elements, stabilized by artificial diffusion to produce an upwind bias. Other finite-element methods also have been developed to solve the Euler equations; an example is the



Fig. 2. Surface pressure and entropy distributions for flow past the NACA0012 airfoil at (a) M=0.80 and α = 1.25 degree incidence and (b) M=0.85 and α = 1.0 degree incidence. Solutions on 160 × 32 cell grids after 5 multigrid cycles (symbols) are compared with solutions iteratively converged to machine zero (lines).

Streamwise Upwind Petrov-Galerkin (SUPG) method (Hughes et al. [33], Kelly et al. [34], Peraire et al. [35]; see also Zienkiewicz and Taylor [36]) which automatically incorporates an upwind bias by an appropriate choice of test functions. Implicit schemes based on the Alternating-Direction Implicit approximate factorization for Euler and/or Navier-Stokes equations were introduced independently by Briley and McDonald [37] and by Beam and Warming [38]. A multiple grid algorithm for the Euler equations was developed by Ni [39], and for the Runge–Kutta algorithm by Jameson [40]. Jameson's scheme was a cell-centered finitevolume scheme that created coarse grids by agglomerating the fine grid cells in groups of four (in two dimensions) or eight (in three dimensions). Subsequently, the idea of agglomeration multigrid has been extended to unstructured grids (Smith [41], Lallemandetal. [42], Venkatakrishnan and Mavriplis [43]; see also Mavriplis [44]). Implicit schemes based on the lower-upper (LU) factorization were introduced by Jameson and Turkel [45], and an efficient multigrid implementation of the LU scheme has recently been demonstrated by Jameson and Caughey [46]. The latter scheme seems to hold the record for convergence of solutions to the Euler equations for two-dimensional flows past airfoils,



Fig. 3. CFD simulation performed by DLR of flow over a complete A380.

producing results converged to within truncation error in 3–5 multigrid cycles for a number of test cases. Fig. 2 shows the surface pressure and entropy distributions for the flow past the NACA0012 airfoil at two transonic conditions. These same conditions were used as standard test cases for the 1979 GAMM Workshop in Stockholm, where up to 5000 iterations were required for convergence of most algorithms presented [21].

2.4. Solution of the Navier–Stokes equations

After 1985 the successful shock capturing algorithms for the Euler equations were rapidly extended to solution of the Reynolds averaged Navier–Stokes (RANS) equations. The last two decades have seen the emergence of very complex software systems for flow simulation, integrating geometric modeling, mesh generation, numerical solution and post-processing. Some of these have been developed by national research institutes. Notable examples include the DLR's Megaflow system which includes options for solution on both structured grids (FLowER) and unstructured grids (TAU). NASA counterparts include Overflow, FUN3D and USM3D. Fig. 3 and 4, supplied by Norbert Kroll, illustrate the kind of way in which CFD is now used in transport aircraft design.

Commercial CFD software capable of simulating very complex flows has also become widely available. Notable examples include Fluent, CFX, Fastran and CFD++. Some of the most stunning applications have been in the simulation of Formula racing cars using grids with 100 million or more cells.

2.5. Optimum shape design

The formulation of (inverse) design methods for aerodynamic problems dates to the method based on conformal mapping of Lighthill [47]. For transonic flow problems, the earliest design methods were based on the hodograph method (see, e.g., the numerical hodograph methods of Nieuwland [48] and Boerstoel and Uijlenho [49]). The complex characteristics method of Garabedian



Fig. 4. Example of growing use of CFD in today's Airbus A380.

and Korn [50] and the fictitious gas airfoil design method, inspired by earlier experimental work with a rheo-electrical analog approach [51], led to further advances. Direct transonic potential flow solvers were coupled with optimization procedures by Hicks and Henne to design transonic airfoils and wings [52]. Pironneau used optimal control techniques for the design of shapes governed by elliptic equations [53]. Subsequently Jameson developed the use control theory [54], based on the solution of adjoint problems, and applied it with Reuther to the design of aerodynamic shapes in transonic and supersonic flow governed by (nonlinear) potential flow [55] and the Euler equations [56], and (with Martinelli and Pierce) to problems governed by the Navier–Stokes equations [57,58].

3. Transonic airfoil design

Kuechemann discusses transonic flow patterns for airfoils in considerable detail on pp. 185–192 of his book, referring particularly to the work of Pearcy [59] who proposed the concept of "peaky" airfoil with a strong leading edge suction peak in subsonic flow. This tends to produce a flat topped pressure distribution when the flow becomes transonic. This concept was further extended by Whitcomb in his supercritical airfoil design [60]. Whitcomb combined a peaky leading edge design with a strongly cambered lower surface near the trailing edge which produced a significant increase in the lift coefficient from the rear loading. Kuechemann does not refer to Whitcomb's airfoil, but he does refer to Whitcomb's transonic area rule.

Kuechemann also refers on p. 189 to the "transonic controversy" over whether airfoil producing shock-free transonic flows could be produced. It had been proved by Cathleen Morawetz [61] that a shock free transonic flow must be on isolated point, such that any perturbation of the shape or the free stream conditions would produce a shock wave. Nieuwland actually succeeded in producing some shock free airfoils by a design method in the hodograph plane [48]. Shortly thereafter Garabedian developed his method of complex characteristics in the hodograph plane as a powerful tool for designing shock free airfoil. Kuechemann includes a figure showing the best known of these airfoils, the Garabedian-Korn airfoil, on p. 190. This airfoil was very influential in the subsequent development of transonic wing design. It has also been a source of consternation because many CFD codes have not been able to reproduce a shock free solution for which it was designed.

The coordinates calculated by the hodograph method are not perfectly accurate because of integration errors. Recent calculations suggest that the Garabedian–Korn airfoil is actually shock free at Mach 0.7510 and CL 0.6250, not the originally calculated design point of Mach 0.7500 at CL 0.6290. This is illustrated in Fig. 5a which shows an Euler solution calculated on an extremely fine mesh with 5120 intervals around the profile and 1024 intervals normal to the airfoil for a total of 5,242,880 mesh points. Fig. 5b shows that there is a double shock at the original design point Mach 0.7500 and CL 0.6290, consistent with Morawtz's theorem. In these figures the negative pressure coefficient is plotted vertically, while the right hand window shows the Mach contours.

The boundary layer displacement effect would prevent the flow from being shock free in practice. In order to overcome this difficulty Garabedian adopted the practice of designing airfoils with an open trailing edge, so that the estimated boundary layer displacement thickness could be subtracted. Since, however, the boundary layer thickness varies with the Reynolds number, this leads to a situation where a shape that produced shock free flow in flight would not do so in a wind tunnel, and vice versa.

Nevertheless the outcome after 50 years is that most modern transonic commercial aircraft including business jets as well as airliners have wing sections that strongly resemble the Garabedian-Korn airfoil.

4. Swept wing design

Due to three-dimensional effects a satisfactory swept wing cannot be designed with a fixed wing section from root to tip. In order to obtain a satisfactory span load distribution it is actually necessary to twist the tip down relative to the root. For a wing with 35° of sweep the total twist needed is about 8° . While an elliptic span load distribution would minimize the induced drag, it is actually better to have a more inboard loaded distribution which reduces the root bending moment and correspondingly the structure weight. Wings of commercial transport aircraft usually have an extended chord in the inboard region to facilitate the accommodation of the landing gear. The resulting highly tapered planform may lead to high section lift coefficients in the outboard wing. This in turn may lead to strong shock waves when the total lift coefficient is increased, resulting in shock induced separation and buffeting. It is also generally desirable to increase the depth of the inboard wing sections as much as possible in order to reduce the structure weight and provide more fuel volume.

In Kuechemann's own research he made important contributions to the understanding of three-dimensional effects on swept wings. He discusses the design of swept wings at length in Chapter 5 of his book. On p. 223 he suggests the desirability of maintaining a fully swept isobar pattern over the wing. On the following page he goes on to suggest that the aerodynamic design aims can be stated in the form of a required pressure distribution for a specified Mach number and lift coefficient. This approach would require the availability of a method to solve the inverse problem of finding the geometry which corresponds to a given pressure distribution. Since no such geometry necessarily exists this can lead to an ill-posed problem. This difficulty can be avoided by reformulating the problem as an optimization problem where the geometry is selected to minimize a cost function of the form:

$$I = \int (p - p_T)^2 ds$$

where p_T is the target pressure and the integral is over the wing surface.

The development during the last 20 years of aerodynamic shape optimization techniques based on control theory enables the effective solution of both the inverse problem and the problem of minimizing drag at a given lift. The author's SYN107 program performs aerodynamic shape optimization for wingfuselage combinations with the flow modeled by the RANS equations. In order to obtain good wing performance it is important to account for the effects of the fuselage. Moreover transonic flow is so sensitive that the shape modifications needed to optimize the wing may be no larger than the boundary layer displacement thickness, with the consequence that viscous effects need to be included in the optimization.

The following example illustrates the process of wing design via aerodynamic shape optimization. An initial wing was created by substituting the Garabedian–Korn section into the planform of a representative modern transonic wing design, the NASA Common Research Model (CRM), which is the test shape for the latest AIAA Drag Prediction Workshops [62]. After scaling the thickness to produce a distribution similar to the CRM, and introducing 7° of twist to produce a near elliptic spanwise lift distribution, the result calculated using the Reynolds averaged Navier–Stokes equations at a design point of Mach 0.850 and CL 0.440 is as shown in Fig. 6a. In this calculation the Reynolds



Fig. 5. Euler solution of transonic flow over a Garabedian-Korn airfoil (a) at the new design point (shock free) and (b) at the original design point (with strong double shock).

number is 20 million based on the CRM reference chord. It can be seen that there is a very strong shock wave across the entire span. However, using the optimization method based on techniques drawn from control theory, the wing can be redesigned to produce an essentially shock free flow as illustrated in Fig. 6b. The outboard wing sections are preserved almost unchanged, but a substantial modification is required near the fuselage. This wing is a single point design, and it turns out that it incurs a significant drag penalty below the design point at Mach numbers in the range 0.83–0.84 due to the formation of a strong double shock.

A more balanced design is obtained by using the single point design as the initial shape for a multipoint design in which the average drag coefficient at Mach 0.82, 0.83, 0.84, 0.85 and 0.86 is minimized at CL of 0.44. The performance of the resulting wing is shown in Fig. 7, in which it can be seen that the drag of the

A. Jameson, K. Ou / Progress in Aerospace Sciences I (IIII) III-III



Fig. 6. Pressure contours for the CRM wing (a) before optimization (with strong shock) and (b) after optimization (with very weak shock).

exposed wing (including friction drag) is almost constant at 0.0136 (136 counts) at Mach 0.82, 0.83 and 0.84, rising to 138 counts at Mach 0.85. This is slightly less than the drag of the CRM, and demonstrates that a competitive wing can be obtained in two calculations starting from the Garabedian–Korn section. The first calculation took 4 h and the second 6 h using a quad-core work-station which is about 5000 times faster than the Control Data 6600 computers at the Courant Institute in the early 1970s, and has about 8000 times the memory. Evidently such calculations would not have been feasible in that era.

5. Other aspects of aircraft design

In the previous sections we have discussed the aerodynamic design of aircraft using CFD. It is evident, and proven in the aircraft industry, that use of computational aerodynamic analysis and design optimization have led to vast improvement in the lift, drag and performance characteristics of aircraft. Having achieved this, it is equally important to keep in mind the multidisciplinary nature of aircraft design. On the one hand, an aircraft needs to be aerodynamically efficient to stay competitive. On the other hand, it is also important for the aircraft to be safe, stable, controllable by the pilots, and manufacturable. At the end of Chapter 5 in his book, Kuechemann expressed a similar view: "Nevertheless, this work gives a clear indication of the strong and necessary trend to integrate ever more closely the aerodynamic design of aircraft with that of stability, control, and guidance systems and with the structural design". In this section we discuss briefly these other aspects of aircraft design and point out that the application of computers have profound implications on all aspects of aircraft design.

5.1. Stability and control

The late 1960s and early 1970s, towards the later part of Kuechemann's life, saw the incipience of a computer revolution. Supercomputers, such as Control Data 6600 in 1964, began to appear and grow rapidly. Moore's Law was stated in 1965, and by the early 1970s the first microprocessors, such as Intel 4004 and Motorola 6800, also started to appear. The development of supercomputers has been instrumental in driving the development of computational fluid dynamic methods and algorithms. Similarly, the development of microprocessors and digital computers have enabled a parallel revolution in the field of aircraft stability and control, and led to the digital fly-by-wire (FBW) system. The Concorde, which first flew in 1969, was the first civil airliner to have an electrical analog fly-by-wire flight control system installed (it is of interest to note that Kuechemann played an important role in contributing to the advanced ogive shape used on Concorde). The analog system was later replaced by the first generation of electrical flight control systems with digital technology. The General Dynamics F16 was the first military aircraft with a full digital fly-by-wire control systems. Led by Ziegler, a former fighter pilot, Airbus was the first company to use fly-by-wire for civil aircraft, the Airbus A320, and soon after FBW control systems were adopted for the Airbus 330 and 340, and the Boeing 777. The fly-by-wire control system has been credited with key role in the successful engine out descent of an Airbus 320 on the Hudson River after a bird strike.

A. Jameson, K. Ou / Progress in Aerospace Sciences & (****)



Fig. 7. Multipoint design optimization result for the redesigned CRM wing that started with the Garabedian–Korn section. The design points are Mach=0.82, 0.83, 0.84, 0.85, and 0.86 at fixed CL=0.44.

In a fly-by-wire system digital controls replace the conventional mechanically signaled flight controls. The elimination of mechanical components in the new digital system are clearly illustrated in Fig. 8. The pilot no longer physically move the control surfaces through mechanical linkages. Instead the pilot's commands, or the orders from the autopilot computers (when in autopilot mode) are transmitted digitally to a group of flight computers which instantly interprets and analyzes the control inputs and evaluate the aircraft's speed, weight, atmospheric conditions, and other variables to arrive at the optimum control deflections. The flight control surfaces are then electrically controlled by the computers and hydraulically activated. The replacement of the conventional mechanical components with electrically transmitted signal along wires leads to the name flyby-wire. Realization of the fly-by-wire system is not possible without the development of digital flight computers and microprocessors that enable a fail-safe flight control system to be implemented economically, safely, and reliably.

According to Collinson [63], the major building blocks of a digital FBW system consist of, as illustrated in Fig. 9, a group of flight control computers, electrical data transmission system, actuator control electronics, aircraft motion sensors, and air data sensors. As discussed before the flight computers take in all the



Fig. 8. Schematic illustration of a digital fly-by-wire system. Figure courtesy of [63].

information including pilot's order, the aircraft's current state and its external environment, and move the control surfaces to follow the desired flight path while at the same time achieve good handling quality and make sure the airplane is not over-stressed beyond its flight envelope. There are multiple computers for redundancy. These computers are designed and manufactured



Fig. 9. Major elements of a digital fly-by-wire system. Figure courtesy of [63].

by different equipment manufacturers to make them tolerant to a design or manufacturing fault. Within each computer, there are multiple channels performing control as well as monitoring functions to check faults and failures. Furthermore, each channel has multiple dissimilar processors with their own power supplies and softwares. Software programs are also written by different groups for different manufacturer's microprocessors to avoid common errors. The electrical data transmission system is a network of wires and electronics that code, transmit, receive, and decode the digital signal. It also features multiple redundancy and has high data transmission rate. On the airplane control surface actuators end, there is the FBW actuation system. The system is designed to be failure tolerant by again having multiple independent actuators and sensors. Sophisticated voting and consolidation algorithms help to detect and isolate failures in the event of faults occurring in any of the actuators. Another advantage of digital FBW actuation is the faster control surface position feedback that significantly increases actuation response speed. Fast FBW system response is crucial for keeping aerodynamically unstable airplane from divergence. The resulting control surfaces movements translate into aircraft motions, which need to be sensed and made known to the flight computers. The motion sensors do this by measuring the acceleration and angular rotation speed along the pitch, roll, and yaw axes of the aircraft. The motion sensors also detect aircraft deviations due to external disturbances and feed them back to the flight computers, which will then make timely adjustment. Finally, sensors to measure the air data are also essential. Incidence angle measurements, such as pitch and yaw angles, are needed for pitch and rudder control and to avoid stall. Due to the variation in speed and air density, the control surface effectiveness at different point in the flight envelop is different. To achieve similar flight handling quality throughout the flight envelope, the airspeed, flight altitude, and Mach number measurements help the flight computers to compensate for the variations. The air data sensor unit uses microprocessor to perform air data computations.

Traditionally, aircraft designers have been confined to design aircraft with strong natural stability to prevent large deviations following a disturbance. However, this made the system harder to maneuver. Kuechemann called it "one of the fundamental conflicts in the dichotomy of stability and control". The invention of digital FBW systems has removed this constraint. It is now possible to reduce the natural stability and, in return, reduce the aircraft weight and drag by having smaller control surfaces. Kuechemann also regarded 'the establishment of reasonable and safe handling criteria and their attainment' as 'the central and most important task in aircraft design'. We conclude this brief section on FBW systems by noting that this has been achieved by digital FBW, firstly by providing the pilot with constant good control and handling characteristics over the whole flight envelope and under all loading conditions, and secondly by providing flight envelope protection which prevents the aircraft from stalling and from exceeding its structural limit loads. Digital flight control systems make flying safer and more economical for the transport aircraft, and more comfortable for the pilot as well as the passengers.

5.2. Computer aided design and manufacturing

For the aircraft designers, the availability of the computer and its associated tools not only frees them from certain design constraints, but also allows them to rethink the aircraft design process in a more integrated and efficient way. We discuss the significance of computers on the traditional aircraft design process in the current section, focusing on the impact of computer aided design (CAD) and computer aided manufacturing (CAM).

In the early years, geometric modeling technology was driven by the automotive and aircraft industries due to their unique engineering requirements for a wide range of curves and surfaces for their parts. Manually defining and manufacturing these components were becoming increasingly time-consuming and costly. By the early 1960s, numerically controlled machine tools became more readily available. There was the need to generate the digital information to drive these machines. CAD systems began to emerge in this era. As in the case of CFD and digital FBW systems, CAD system development also experienced rapid changes as computer hardware became more capable. In the 1960s, CAD software was run on mainframe computers. The earliest CAD systems were used primarily for replacing the traditional drafting practice. Though limited at that time to handle only two-dimensional data, using CAD for engineering drawing helped to reduce drawing errors and allowed the drawings to be modified and reused. Large aerospace and automotive companies with the resources to cover the high costs of early computers became the earliest users of CAD software. Most CAD development in that period was conducted internally in those companies. An example was the CADAM system developed by the Lockheed aircraft company. This later evolved into the very successful CATIA system developed by Dassault. In the 1970s, the emergence of powerful minicomputers made CAD software more affordable and accessible, and helped create the commercial CAD software market. Very rapid growth of commercial CAD changed the way CAD was used and developed in big automotive and aerospace companies as they began to use commercial software in conjunction with their internally developed CAD systems. Simultaneously there were significant advances in the geometric algorithms that CAD software was based on. Major developments include the Bezier curves and surfaces [64], B-splines [65], and Non-Uniform Rational B-Splines (NURBS) [66]. In the 1980s, lowcost, low-maintenance, and high-performance workstations using UNIX operating system were introduced. This again revolutionized the CAD software market, and effectively replaced the mainframe and mid-range computers as the preferred hardware for CAD systems. At the same time, three-dimensional CAD software and solid modeling became commercial reality. As the computer hardware and maintenance costs continued to fall and CAD software became more available and powerful, commercial CAD systems spread throughout industry. In 1988 Boeing made the decision to use the commercially available CATIA to design and draft the new B777 airplane, which became the first CAD based "paperless" design. This decision proved to be very successful, leading to reduced product development time and cost. From the 1990s to the present time, the same trend we have observed repeated itself, with more cost-effective and powerful personal computers replacing the less cost-effective workstations, and with a corresponding migration of CAD software from the Unix system to the mainstream Windows and Linux operating systems. The function of CAD systems also evolved from pure geometric modeling tools into a system of computer aided engineering solutions that consists of computer aided manufacturing, digital assembly, and virtual production management.

The usefulness of computers in today's aircraft industry can be appreciated by considering two examples of challenges facing an aircraft company as the organization grows bigger and the aircraft product becomes more complicated. The first challenge is related to the increasing sophistication of the modern aircraft. As the products become more complex with more people taking part in the engineering and manufacturing process, efficient coordination and information flow become very difficult. For example, the development of the Boeing 747 airplane involved millions of parts and required the participation of thousands of engineers and manufacturing personnel. It becomes nearly impossible to produce paper drawings of every part, and to exchange and update design information in an efficient way. To increase productivity, minimize errors, and reduce process flow time, it becomes necessary to create a "paperless" environment. The emergence of CAD software accomplishes these by allowing rapid creation and communication of three-dimensional digital representations of the design features. Since every component in an airplane has the potential to affect every other component, CAD gives the designers and engineers freedom to experiment and evaluate design changes quickly and inexpensively. The second challenge is related to the efficiency of the traditional airplane design process within a large and highly compartmentalized aircraft company. The sequential nature of the traditional conceptual, preliminary, and detailed airplane design process tends to result in a long product development time. The top-down process usually involves the customer providing requirements, the program office developing guidelines, and the design office creating and evaluating concepts. The design is subsequently "frozen" and passed down to the production and manufacturing offices. In order to find the best and most economical way to realize the product, changes are usually needed that will affect all disciplines to modify the design, and the process repeats itself until a best possible compromise is reached. While this process might work well when the organization is small and interaction between design and manufacturing intimate and frequent, it can lead to undesirable delays in large organizations. Using information technology such as computer aided manufacturing and production can effectively restore close interaction and communication among a large number of people in the design process. In a computer assisted environment, the airplane designer has access to manufacturing processes and tools in the form of virtual environments. These will allow the designer to virtually manufacture the product while designing it. A more optimal design trade and resource allocation between production and airplane performance can be achieved early in the design stage.

We conclude this section by presenting some statistics from the study of the digitally designed Boeing 777 which demonstrate the great benefits from design automation achieved through CAD system. Boeing used CAD systems that combined geometric modeling using CATIA, finite element analysis using ELFINI (Finite Element Analysis System) and digital assembly using EPIC (Electronic Preassembly Integration on CATIA). The CAD systems allowed Boeing engineers to simulate the geometry of an airplane design on the computer without the costly and time-consuming investment of using physical mock-ups. More than 3 million parts were represented in an integrated database. A complete threedimensional virtual mock-up of the airplane was created. This allowed the designers to investigate part interferences, assembly interfaces and maintainability using spatial visualizations of the aircraft components. In comparison with the earlier aircraft design and manufacturing processes, Boeing eliminated more than 3000 assembly interfaces without any physical prototyping, and achieved 90 percent reduction in engineering change requests, 50 percent reduction in cycle time for engineering change request, 90 percent reduction in material rework, and 50 times improvement in assembly tolerances for fuselage. Overall, CAD/CAM systems and digital pre-assembly greatly improve the quality of airplane designs and reduce the time required to introduce new airplanes into the marketplace.

6. Conclusion

The external appearance of long range commercial aircraft has not changed much during the last 50 years, reflecting the qualitative understanding of swept wing design that had been achieved by Kuechemann and his peers. The design process, however, has been completely revolutionized during the same period by the systematic use of computational simulation. Moreover the role of information technology now extends well beyond the design and manufacturing process to the actual flight operations and management through technologies such as digital flyby-wire. These trends will inevitably continue. On the design side a major current challenge is in aero-acoustics, paced by the demand to reduce the noise signature of both take-off and landing operations. The prediction of airframe noise due to high lift systems and landing gear remains intractable with current computational methods, and will probably require a combination of higher order numerical algorithms with massively parallel computation. On the operational side there is tremendous interest in autonomous unmanned air vehicles (UAVs) for military operations. While it is doubtful whether passengers will be willing to accept the idea of flying in UAVs, one can imagine their adoption for cargo operations if the issues of their integration into the air traffic control system can be satisfactorily resolved.

Acknowledgements

The authors' research on computational fluid dynamics and aerodynamic shape optimization has benefited greatly from the support of the AFOSR Computational Mathematics Program under Dr. Fariba Fahroo, the NSF Computational Mathematics Program under Dr. Leland Jameson, and the support of an STTR contract from NASA Dryden under Dr. Kajal Gupta.

References

- [1] Kuechemann D. The aerodynamic design of aircraft. Pergamon Press; 1978.
- [2] Lomax H. Relaxation methods in fluid mechanics. Annu Rev Fluid Mech 1975.
 [3] Godunov S. A difference method for the numerical calculation of discontinuous solutions of hydrodynamic equations. Mat Sbornik 1959;47:271–306.
- [Translated as JPRS 7225 by U.S. Department of Commerce].
 [4] Fedorenko R. The speed of convergence of one iterative process. USSR Comput
- Math Math Phys 1966;4:227–35.
- [5] Lax P, Wendroff B. Systems of conservation laws. Comm Pure Appl Math 1960;13:217–37.
- [6] MacCormack RW. The effect of viscosity in hypervelocity impact cratering. In: AIAA Paper 69-354, AIAA hypervelocity impact conference, Cincinnati, Ohio, April 30–May 2, 1969.
- [7] Hess J. Smith AMO. Calculation of non-lifting potential flow about arbitrary three-dimensional bodies. Douglas Aircraft Report ES 40622; 1962.
- [8] Keller HB, Cebeci T. Accurate numerical methods for boundary layer flows. II: two-dimensional turbulent flows. AIAA J 1972;10:1193–9.
- [9] Murman EM, Cole J. Calculation of plane, steady, transonic flows. AIAA J 1971;9:114–21.

A. Jameson, K. Ou / Progress in Aerospace Sciences I (IIII) III-III

- [10] Jameson A. Iterative solution of transonic flow over airfoils and wings, including flows at mach 1. Comm Pure Appl Math 1974;27:283–309.
- [11] Jameson A, Caughey DA. Numerical calculation of the flow past a swept wing. ERDA Research and Development Report COO-3077-140, Courant Institute of Mathematical Sciences, New York University; 1977.
- [12] Murman EM. Analysis of embedded shocks waves calculated by relaxation methods. AIAA J 1974;12:626–33.
- [13] Jameson A. Transonic potential flow calculations using conservation form. In: Proceedings of the AIAA 2nd computational fluid dynamics conference. Hartford, Connecticut, 1975. p. 148–61.
- [14] Holst TL. Implicit algorithm for conservative transonic full potential equation using an arbitrary mesh. AIAA J 1979;17:1038–45.
- [15] Jameson A. Numerical computation of transonic flows with shock waves. In: Oswatitsch K, Rues D, editors. Symposium transsonicum II. Berlin: Springer-Verlag; 1975. p. 384–414.
- [16] Brandt A. Multi-level adaptive solutions to boundary value problems. Math Comput 1977;31:333–90.
- [17] South Jr JC, Brandt A. Application of a multi-level grid method to transonic flow calculations. In: Adamson Jr TC, Platzer MF, editors. Transonic flow problems in turbomachinery. Washington: Hemisphere; 1977. p. 180–207.
- [18] Jameson A. Acceleration of transonic potential flow calculations on arbitrary meshes by the multiple grid method. In: Proceedings of the AIAA 4th computational fluid dynamics conference. Virginia: Williamsburg; 1979. p. 122–46.
- [19] Jameson A, Steinhoff J. Non-uniqueness of FCPOT numerical solution. In: Proceedings of the GAMM workshop on numerical methods for the computation of inviscid transonic flows with shock waves, Stockholm, 1981. p. 264–6.
- [20] Bristeau M, Glowinski R, Periaux J, Perrier P, Pironneau O, Poirier C. On the numerical solution of nonlinear problems in fluid dynamics by least squares and finite element methods (II), application to transonic flow simulations. Comput Meth Appl Mech Eng 1985;51:363–94.
 [21] Rizzi A, Viviand H, editors. Numerical methods for the computation of
- [21] Rizzi A, Viviand H, editors. Numerical methods for the computation of inviscid transonic flows with shock waves: a GAMM workshop. Braunschweig: Vieweg & Sohn; 1979.
- [22] Jameson A, Schmidt W, Turkel E. Numerical solutions of the Euler equations by finite volume methods using Runge-Kutta time-stepping schemes. In: AIAA Paper 81-1259, AIAA 14th fluid and plasma dynamics conference, Palo Alto, California, 1981.
- [23] Steger J, Warming R. Flux vector splitting of the inviscid gas dynamic equations with applications to finite difference methods. J Comput Phys 1981;40:263–93.
- [24] Van Leer B. Towards the ultimate conservative difference scheme. II: monotonicity and conservation combined in a second-order scheme. J Comput Phys 1974;14:361–70.
- [25] Harten A. High resolution schemes for hyperbolic conservation laws. J Comput Phys 1983;49:357–93.
- [26] Roe P. Approximate riemann solvers, parameter vectors, and difference schemes. J Comput Phys 1981;43:357–72.
- [27] Chakravarthy S, Harten A, Osher S. Essentially non-oscillatory shock capturing schemes of uniformly very high accuracy. In: AIAA Paper 86-0339, AIAA 24th aerospace sciences meeting, Reno, Nevada, 1986.
- [28] Boris J, Book D. Flux corrected transport, 1 SHASTA, a fluid transport algorithm that works. J Comput Phys 1973;11:38–69.
- [29] Book DL, Boris JP. Flux corrected transport: a minimum error finite-difference technique designed for vector solution of fluid equations. In: Proceedings of the AIAA computational fluid dynamics conference; 1973. p. 182–9.
- [30] Jameson A. Analysis and design of numerical schemes for gas dynamics 1; artificial diffusion, upwind biasing, limiters, and their effect on multigrid convergence. Int J Comput Fluid Dyn 1995;4:171–218.
- [31] Jameson A. Analysis and design of numerical schemes for gas dynamics 2; artificial diffusion and discrete shock structure. Int J Comput Fluid Dyn 1995;5:1–38.
- [32] Jameson A, Baker T, Weatherill N. Calculation of inviscid transonic flow over a complete aircraft. In: AIAA Paper 86-0103, AIAA 24th aerospace sciences meeting, Reno, Nevada, 1986.
- [33] Hughes T, Franca L, Mallet M. A new finite element formulation for computational fluid dynamics, I, symmetric forms of the compressible Euler and Navier–Stokes equations and the second law of thermodynamics. Comput Meth Appl Mech Eng 1986;59:223–31.
- [34] Kelly DW, Nakazawa S, Zienkiewicz OC. A note on anisotropic balancing dissipation in the finite-element method approximation to convective diffusion problems. Int J Numer Meth Eng 1980;15:1705–11.

- [35] Peraire J, Peiro J, Morgan K. Multigrid solution of the three-dimensional compressible Euler equations on unstructured, tetrahedral grids. Int J Numer Meth Eng 1993;36:1029–44.
- [36] Zienkiewicz OC, Taylor RL. Finite element method: volume 3 fluid dynamics. London: Butterworth Heinemann; 2000.
- [37] Briley WR, McDonald H. Solution of the three-dimensional Navier–Stokes equations by an implicit technique. In: Lecture notes in physics, vol. 35; 1975. p. 105–10.
- [38] Beam R, Warming R. An implicit finite difference algorithm for hyperbolic systems in conservation form. J Comput Phys 1976;22:87–109.
- [39] Ni R. A multiple grid scheme for solving the Euler equations. AIAA J 1982;20:1565-71.
- [40] Jameson A. Solution of the Euler equations by a multigrid method. Appl Math Comput 1983;13:327–56.
- [41] Smith WA. Multigrid solutions of transonic flow on unstructured grids. In: Baysal O, editor. Recent advances and applications in computational fluid dynamics, Proceedings of the ASME winter annual meeting; 1990. p. 93–103.
- [42] Lallemand M, Steve H, Dervieux A. Unstructured multigridding by volume agglomeration: current status. Comput Fluids 1992;21:397–433.
- [43] Venkatakrishnan V, Mavriplis D. Agglomeration multigrid for the threedimensional Euler equations. AIAA J 1995;33:633–40.
- [44] Mavriplis D. Unstructured grid techniques. Annu Rev Fluid Mech 1997;29: 473–514.
- [45] Jameson A, Turkel E. Implicit schemes and LU decompositions. Math Comput 1981;37:385–97.
- [46] Jameson A, Caughey DA. How many steps are required to solve the Euler equations of steady, compressible flow: in search of a fast solution algorithm. In: AIAA Paper 2001-2673, 15th computational fluid dynamics conference, June 11–14, 2001, Anaheim, California, 2001.
- [47] Lighthill MJ. A new method of two-dimensional aerodynamic design. R&M 1111, Aeronautical Research Council; 1945.
- [48] Nieuwland GY. Transonic potential flow around a family of quasi-elliptical airfoil sections. Technical Report T 172, NLR, Netherlands; 1967.
- [49] Boerstoel JW, Uijlenhoet R. Lifting airfoils with supercritical shockless flow. ICAS Paper 70-15, 1970.
- [50] Bauer F, Garabedian P, Korn D. A theory of supercritical wing sections with computer programs and examples. In: Lecture notes in economics and mathematical systems, vol. 66. New York: Springer-Verlag; 1972.
- [51] Sobieczky H, Yu NJ, Fung K-Y, Seebass AR. New method for designing shockfree transonic configurations. AIAA J 1979;17:722–9.
- [52] Hicks RM, Henne PA. Wing design by numerical optimization. J Aircraft 1978;15:407–12.
- [53] Pironneau O. Optimal shape design for elliptic systems. New York: Springer-Verlag; 1984.
- [54] Jameson A. Aerodynamic design via control theory. J Sci Comput 1988;3:233-60.
- [55] Reuther J, Jameson A. Control theory based airfoil design for potential flow and a finite-volume discretization. In: AIAA Paper 94-499, 32nd aerospace sciences meeting, Reno, Nevada, 1994.
- [56] Jameson A, Reuther J. Control theory based airfoil design using the Euler equations. In: AIAA Paper 94-4272, AIAA-NASA-USAF-SSMO symposium on multidisciplinary analysis and optimization, Panama City, Florida, 1994.
- [57] Jameson A. Optimum aerodynamic design using control theory. CFD Rev 1995:495-528.
- [58] Jameson A, Martinelli L, Pierce NA. Optimum aerodynamic design using the Navier–Stokes equations. Theor Comput Fluid Dyn 1998;10:213–37.
- [59] Pearcey HH, Osborne J. Some problems and features of transonic aerodynamics. ICAS Pap. 70-14; Spalart PR. Trends in turbulence treatments. AIAA Paper 2000, 1970.
- [60] Whitcomb RR, Clark LR. An airfoil shape for efficient flight at supercritical mach numbers. NASA TM X-1109, 1965.
- [61] Morawetz CS. On the non-existence of continuous transonic flows past profiles, part I. Comm Pure Appl Math 1956;9:45–68.
- [62] Vassberg JC, DeHann MA, Rivers SM, Wahls RA. Development of a common research model for applied CFD validation studies. AIAA Paper 2008-6919, Honolulu, HI, 2008.
- [63] Collinson RPG. Introduction to avionics systems. 2nd ed. Kluwer Academic Publishers; 2003.
- [64] Bezier P. A view of the CAD/CAM development period. Annals of the History of Computing 1998;20(2).
- [65] Risenfeld R. Applications of B-Spline approximation to geometric problems of CAD. PhD thesis, Syracuse University; 1973.
- [66] Versprille KJ. Computer-aided design applications of the rational B-Spline approximation form. PhD thesis, Syracuse University, 1975.